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The Franklin House, a three-story brick structure located on the S.W.
corner of Broad and Thomas Streets, was constructed in three stages from
c. 1845-7 to c. 1860. Stage I, referred to as the '"main structure", was
constructed c. 1845-47. This portion provides the entire Broad St. facade
and is considered as the major facade of the existing building, with a 75'
frontage on Broad St. and a 50' frontage on Thomas. Stage II, essentially

the S.W. quadrant of the existing building, appears to be a contemporary building

of the "main structure." It may have been built at the same time or immedi-
ately after the main building. It was later connected to the main building
and an addition to its rear added, the size of which indicates an assembly
purpose, although smaller than a subsequent addition. Stage III, the
subsequent addition referred to in the sentence above, comprises the S.E.
quadrant of the existing building. Within this addition is a second floor
ballroom with three fireplaces (the room is 70' x 30') and evidence of

closed windows indicates this addition was added after Stage II, probably pripor

to 1860.

Architecturally, the structure exhibits both the Federal and Greek Revivial

styles, as well as a cast-iron front with which the original ground floor
facade on Broad St. was replaced c. 1870. This modification illustrates
the use of cast-iron facades in adapting buildings for commercial use. The
Broad St. facade is three stories, exhibiting the cast-iron lower floor which
features five entrances and the expanses of glass typically associated with
the use of cast-iron. Centered above on the second floor, is a fully devel-
oped Greek Revival doorway (originally opening onto a porch or balcony no

longer extant) which is lighted, trabeated, and with entablature and pilasterf

which feature the anthemion., Above this doorway, on the third floor, is a
window with sidelights, completing a central facade composition. Remaining
windows on the second and third floors are six-over-six and originally had
blinds of a refined design which have been removed and stored in the building.
Third floor windows exhibit a flat arch and those on the second floor dlsplaﬁ
a stuccoed lintel above. The roof is the typical saddle roof, with the
gable ends on the sides of the building where the brick walls rise over and
above the gable ends, connecting the two chimneys to form a parapet wall
extending above the ridge line of the roof. From a high point, the parapet
(viewed from Thomas St.) steps down to join the sidewall, the lowest hori-
zontal surface being of sufficient height above the edge of the roof, as
seen from Broad St., to suggest the possib2lity of a balustrade having been
employed atop the Broad St. facade.

The Thomas St. facade of the main structure exhibits a delivery door
(centered) and two shuttered windows on the first floor, a lighted and
trabeated door with entablature and pilasters on the second floor, above
the delivery door, (originally the second floor doorway gave access to a
pedestrian bridge providing access across Thomas St. to another building),
and a window with sidelights above on the third floor and attic levels,
all forming a central composition of the Stage I facade on Thomas St. Other
windows on the second and third floors are as described for the Broad St.
facade. From Broad Street, Thomas St. slopes downward to the south,

prov1d1ng space for a street level basement under the Stage III addition which

ning for a delivery door.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Athens, as the geat of the state unlversity, was the major cultural
center of ante-bellum Georgia and attracted a steady stream of visitors
from across the state and points beyond. This high incidence of visitation
necessitated places of public accomodation in addition to that available
in private homes., Franklin House, constructed ca. 1845~47, was one of the
facilities which met this need.

In 1843, Maj. William L. Mitchell, member of the University of Georgia
Board of Trustees, purchased the property at the corner of Broad and Thomas
Street at auction from the University. It was on this property that he
built the Franklin House, a bullding designed to accomodate merchantile
establishments on the first floor and hotel facilities on the floors above,
Opening of the hotel was announced on June 3, 1847 by advertisement placed
by Mitchell in the Southern Whig, a local newspaper. However, earlier ads

enterprises located "in Mitchell's new buildings" indicate that the Franklin
House was probably completed prior to the June 1847 hotel announcement, pos-
sibly by 1845, with the initiation of mergﬁéntile actlvity preceding the
hotel opexation.

As a prominent local hotel, the Franklin House served as one of the
focal pointa for social and commercial activity in Athens during its heyday.
It was in thils period, 1845-~1860,that many of the city's great Greek Revival
mansions weyre erected. Both Governor Howell Cobb and Alexander H. Stephens, |
who later became Vice Presldent of the Confederacy, stayed at the Franklin
House on their frequent tyxips to Athens. A recruiter made his headquarters
in the Franklin House for several weeks in 1846 to attract volunteers for thé
Mexican War. In the Spring of 1853, subscriptions for $3000 were raised to
build Athens' first telegraph link to the outside world, connecting at near-
by Union Point,

The Franklin House was popular with itinerant drummers and professional
people. Classified ads of the 1840's and 1850's indicate the comings and

Instructoxs, French teachers, lawyers, and dentists. Franklin House was an
important headquarters for Whig politics in North Georgia. Maj. Mitchell
was an influential figure in this party. Also, civic organizations, such as
the Athens Masonic Lodge, met regularly in rooms on the second floor.
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The interior of the first floor, entering from Broad St. is divided
into three approx. equal bays, the left bay having been the main entrance
to Athens Hardware Co. The ceiling in this portion is of hand-hewn boards
which are supported with cast-iron columns, added at the time the cast-iron
facade was incorporated into the Broad St. facade. The second bay doorway
provides access to a stairway leading up to the second floor and the
ceiling here is plaster. The second and third floors feature a cross
hallway with two connecting rooms forming the "cornmers" of each floor.
The stairway from the second to the third floor and on the attic is located
in the rear of the building and is the terminus of the central hallway.
Doorways to the rooms on the two floors are on the cross hallway. Beneath
the second floor stairway is the connection to the Stage II structure. Acce
to the second floor stairway is through a hallway created through one of the
original rooms in the S.E. portion of the main structure with a connection
to the last addition to the Stage II portion of the existing building. Fire
places were originally wood-burning but have been converted for coal with th
usual cast-iron arched openings. Mantels are simple Greek Revival, painted
black. Interior surfaces on the second and third floors are plaster with
remants of wallpaper visible in some of the rooms. Doors have porcelain kn|
and there is evidence of a painted grain having been applied to many doors
and other interior woodwork. The stairway from the second floor upward’
reveals a delicate hand rail and a few surviving very splend#d balusters
indicating the original stairway was Federal in design. This stairway was
fully detailed up to the attic level which is one open space where the pegge
rafters can be seen under the roof.

Summary of Interior: The main floor was originally intended (and
continued to be used) for merchantile purposes which would explain the fact
that the Thomas St. facade of the first floor has few windows. The stairway
from the street level assends alone to a large open cross hallway with the
stair to the third and attic levels at the rear of the building making the
second floor more a 'piano nobile" than merely a second floor. The second
floor northeast rooms are connected with a double doorway and elegantly
trimmed, possibly a double parlor or sitting room for the hotel. The stair-
way with walnut handrail, delicate stair brackets, and thin, turned baluster]
is detailed all the way to the attic, indicating that this was a fine hotel,
as compared with many which were detailed only at the main entrance. The
second floor ballroom (Stage III) woodwork is very robust and elegant and
the room is unusually large for a hotel the size of the Franklin House
suggesting that it may have been added specifically for the use of the
village of Athens or for University related social functioms.
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8. Significance (continued)

Mitchell, the original builder of the Franklin House, died in 1860 and all
his property and Negroes were sold at public auction. J.W. Nicholson purchased
the Franklin House for $16,300. The hotel operation of the Franklin House is
known to have continued through the War Between the States but no records of
its operation beyond that time have been found. In 1865, the Franklin House
became the home of the Childs-Nickerson Company which changed its name in
1885 to Athens Hardware Company, eventually occupying the total building known
as the Franklin House. After 107 years of operation in the Franklin House,
Athens Hardware Company was still renting the building from the last of
several owners. In 1972, the company's affiliation with the Franklin House
came to an end when it moved into a new building on North Thomas Street.

Historically, the Franklin House exemplifies the social and commercial hig-

tory of Athens and surrounding areas from the period 1845-1972. Architecturally,

it exemplifiesthe influence of both Federal and Greek Revival styles as well
as the utilization of cast-iron for more efficient use of buildings for commen-
cial purposes. Environmentally, the buildingexemplifies the scale and mass
of 19th century commercial buildings and remains a landmark to modern-day
Athenians, just as it has been to countless travelers and Athenians since its
initial operation. Today, Franklin House is empty and the subject of much
speculation regarding its future.
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